


IN THE UNITED  STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT  

AUSTIN DIVISION 

BERNHARDT TIEDE, II, § 
§ 

Plaintiff, § 
§ 
§ 
§ 

v. § 
§ CIVIL ACTION NO.______________ 
§ 
§ 

BRYAN COLLIER, in his official 
capacity as Executive Director of  
Texas Department of Criminal Justice,  
THE TEXAS DEPARTMENT OF CRIMINAL 
JUSTICE, ANGELA COLMENERO, in her official 
capacity as Interim Texas Attorney General, 
and/or KENNETH PAXTON, in his official capacity 
as The Attorney General of Texas (currently  
suspended), and THE TEXAS OFFICE OF  
ATTORNEY GENERAL. 

Defendants.  

§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 

COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff,  Bernhardt Tiede, II, (“Plaintiff” or “Mr. Tiede”), brings this action on behalf 

of himself because Mr. Tiede’s life is in very serious immediate, and ongoing, danger due to 

the following grounds:  

While housed in a prison cell without air conditioning, Plaintiff experienced acute 

emergency stroke symptom, heat related and/or exacerbated, necessitating an ambulance 

transport to an emergency room, and yet Plaintiff, 65-years old with chronic health issues, 

including Diabetes and Hypertension, continues to be housed under dangerous and deadly 

conditions maintained by a Defendant, Texas Department of Criminal Justice (and its 
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Executive Director, Defendant Bryan Collier), which include indoor triple digit temperatures 

in Mr. Tiede’s cell. 

Plaintiff has been wrongfully re-incarcerated subsequent to Plaintiff’s 2014 legal 

release from imprisonment from the unlawful and unjust interference and re-prosecution by 

the Defendants, the Texas Office of the Attorney General, and their acting Attorney Generals, 

which is the ongoing cause of Mr. Tiede’s current dangerous incarceration conditions.   

Mr. Tiede seeks immediate relief in the forms of an ex parte Temporary Restraining 

Order, Injunctive Relief, and Declaratory Relief. 

 

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Mr. Tiede’s life is endangered.   

2. Time is of the essence. 

3. Plaintiff has experienced serious, chronic and acute, heat related symptoms 

resulting in permanent facial disfiguration from partial paralysis, ongoing chronic ear 

infections, and ongoing chronic health conditions related to heat, because TDCJ houses Mr. 

Tiede, a 65-year-old man with Diabetes and Hypertension, in a cell with no air-conditioning.  

The cell reaches triple digit temperatures, endangering Mr. Tiede’s life.   

4. Mr. Tiede was legally released from incarceration at TDCJ in 2014, on bond, 

with the agreement of the state prosecutor. All appropriate legal parties to Mr. Tiede’s 

criminal case (the Court, the Prosecutor, and the Defendant) intended, agreed, and fully 

committed to one another that Mr. Tiede was to never return to prison.   
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5. If the laws were followed and Mr. Tiede’s federal and state constitutional rights 

were duly protected, Mr. Tiede would have been fully released on community supervision in 

2016.  

6. Instead, Mr. Tiede was illegally returned to TDCJ due to the conduct of the 

OAG, where he has been, and continues to be, housed by TDCJ under inhumane, sadistic, 

and dangerous heat conditions, while being denied adequate and appropriate health care, 

causing continued violations of his Eight Amendment protections against cruel and unusual 

punishment, Fifth Amendment Rights to Due Process, as applied to Texas through the 

Fourteenth Amendment, and Equal Protections as guaranteed by the Fourteenth 

Amendment. 1 

II. PARTIES 

7. Bernhardt Tiede, II, a 65-year-old prisoner, is currently incarcerated at the 

Estelle Unit, in Huntsville, Texas.  Mr. Tiede was convicted of murder in 1999; however, he 

was released on community supervision for almost two years as his state habeas cleared the 

Court of Criminal Appeals successfully in Texas.  Mr. Tiede’s behavior during his community 

supervision was without exemplary.   

8. Bryan Collier, (“Mr. Collier”) is the executive director of the Texas Department 

of Criminal Justice, (“TDCJ”). Mr. Collier is the commanding officer of all TDCJ 

correctional officers, guards, and TDCJ employees and contractors.  Mr. Collier is responsible 

for each of their training, supervision, and conduct.  Part of Mr. Collier’s official 

 
1 It must be noted that other TDCJ inmates and TDCJ employees are dying and suffering 
serious health consequences from being incarcerated in, and working under, inhumane, high 
temperatures that may exceed 120 degrees Fahrenheit indoors; other lawsuits addressing 
these issues are pending. 
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responsibilities incudes ensuring the protection of the constitutional rights of all persons held 

in TDCJ custody.  Mr. Collier has at all times described herein acted under the color of state 

law. 

9. The Texas Department of Criminal Justice, (“TDCJ”), is the state prison 

system, an agency of the State of Texas. Tex. Gov’t Code § 493.004.  TDCJ is a recipient of 

federal funds.  At all relevant times, TDCJ operated the Estelle Unit, a public facility with 

programs and services for which Plaintiff qualifies.   

10. Mr. Kenneth Paxton, (“Mr. Paxton”) is the current Texas Attorney General, 

Texas’s chief legal officer, head of the Texas Office of the Attorney General, (“the OAG”).  

As the state’s lead legal and law enforcement officer, Mr. Paxton is responsible for managing 

around 4,000 employees in 38 divisions, in each of the 117 offices in Texas, according to his 

biography.  Among these employees, Mr. Paxton is responsible for leading nearly 750 

attorneys, and he purports to “secure justice for Texans by investigating and prosecuting 

crimes…”.  Mr. Paxton is responsible for lawyers and criminal investigators employed by the 

OAG and their training, supervision, and conduct.  Mr. Paxton has at all times described 

herein acted under the color of state law.  He is sued in his official capacity for declaratory 

and injunctive relief. 

11. Ms. Angela Colmenero, (“Ms. Colmenero”), is currently acting as interim 

Attorney General in Texas because Mr. Paxton is currently suspended from his position 

pending his own impeachment trial.  Ms. Colmenero is now responsible for the lawyers and 

criminal investigators employed by the OAG, and their training, supervision, and conduct.  

Ms. Colmenero is therefore named along with Mr. Paxton, in both of their official capacity. 

Ms. Colmenero is responsible for lawyers and criminal investigators employed by the OAG 
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and their training, supervision, and conduct Ms. Colmenero has at most times described 

herein acting under state law.  She is sued in her official capacity for declaratory and injunctive 

relief. 

12. The Texas Office of the Attorney General, (“OAG”), is the governmental 

entity responsible for safeguarding all Texans’ constitutional rights, as guaranteed by the 

United States and Texas Constitutions.  These Texans include Texans who are criminal 

defendants and convicted felons.  The OAG is responsible for the conduct of their lawyers 

and criminal investigators employed by the OAG and oversees all employees’ training, 

supervision, and conduct. The OAG is a recipient of federal funds.  The OAG has at all times 

described herein acted under the color of state law. 

13. Defendants TDCJ and Mr. Collier are herein collectively referred to as 

“TDCJ”, unless necessary to refer to the individual defendant. 

14. Defendants OAG, Mr. Paxton, and Ms. Colmenero are herein collectively 

referred to as “the OAG”, unless necessary to refer to the individual defendant. 

 

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

15. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 

(federal question), §1343 (civil rights), and §2201 (Declaratory Judgment Act); and 42 U.S.C. 

§1983.  

16. A civil action may be brought in a judicial district in which any 

defendant resides, if all defendants are residents of the State in which the district is located. 

See 28 USCS § 1391(b)(1).  In present case, all defendants reside in Texas. If an entity is a 
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defendant, it is deemed to reside in any judicial district in which it is subject to the court’s 

personal jurisdiction with respect to the civil action in question 28 USCS § 1391(c)(2).   

17. The Office of the Attorney General in Texas can be served at the Price Daniel 

Building, 209 West 14th Street, Austin, Texas 78701.  The Texas Department of Criminal 

Justice may be served at 209 West 14th Street Austin, Texas 78701.  

18. Venue is also property pursuant to 28 USC §1391(c)(2). 

19. A substantial part of the acts and omissions causing the  constitutional 

violations involving the wrongful re-incarceration of Mr. Tiede occurred in this federal district 

because the culpable OAG employees were working from, and overseen from, the Austin, 

Texas office of the OAG, and TDCJ has a physical office involved with the agency’s oversight 

and administration in Austin, Texas.  

 

IV. FACTS 

20. Current Consequences of the OAG’s and TDCJ Constitutionally 
Impermissible Actions are Likely Fatal for Mr. Tiede without this Court’s Immediate 
Expediated Intervention – August 2023: 

 
21. Mr. Tiede, TDCJ No. 00864378, is currently housed at the Estelle Unit, in 

Huntsville, Texas.  

22. Mr. Tiede did not receive time towards his sentence while he was under 

community supervision on a habeas bond in 2014-2016, and his current projected release date 

is August 2, 2098. 

23. Without official intervention, Mr. Tiede will not be eligible for parole until 

August 8, 2029, at which point Mr. Tiede will be 71 years old if he survives incarceration at 

TDCJ.  
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24. When Mr. Tiede was out on CCP 11.65 bond (2014-2016) living in Austin, 

Texas, Mr. Tiede was in a fairly good health, and was greatly improving mentally and 

physically with regular good nutrition and excellent mental health care.  See Attached Photo of 

Mr. Tiede from 2014, almost immediately upon his release on bond, Attached as “Plaintiff’s Exhibit N.” 

25. Mr. Tiede, now 65 years old, had an acute health crisis on June 22, 2023, which 

is evidenced in a portion of Mr. Tiede’s medical records.  See Medical Records Portion, Pages 7-

54, Attached as “Plaintiff’s Exhibit O.” 

26. Mr. Tiede had regular contact with undersigned since April of 2022, when Mr. 

Tiede and undersigned reconnected. 

27. Mr. Tiede wished for undersigned to begin efforts to secure his early release, 

whether through post-conviction work or an effort for compassionate release or early medical 

release because of his age, Diabetes, Hypertension, and the numerous equitable grounds from 

Mr. Tiede’s good deeds and positive, loving contributions made in service to others both 

during his release on habeas bond and while again incarcerated, which would support such a 

request. 

28. Mr. Tiede indicated that there was no air-conditioning available at the Estelle 

Unit cell where he was housed during this summer, and Mr. Tiede stated that the cells were 

known to reach 110 to 112 degrees and other inmates were becoming ill or dying from heat-

related medical issues that were suspected of being hidden by TDCJ. 

29. Mr. Tiede indicated that the employees of TDCJ were also suffering physical 

and mental health consequences, causing the prison to become short staffed. 

30. Mr. Tiede indicated that he did have the fans, but the heat was so high that the 

fans were merely circulating hot air, causing him to feel ill. 
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31. Mr. Tiede indicated that the attempts to alleviate the heat by delivering periodic 

cups of ice water and cold washcloths was insufficient. 

32. Mr. Tiede reported that he is unable to sleep until 3:30 am or 4:00 a.m., which 

is the time the heat dissipates to a degree that sleep becomes possible. 

33. Acute Medical Crisis: 

34. On or about June 21, 2023, Mr. Tiede experienced severe numbness on the left 

side of his face, an actual paralysis on the right side of his face, and became so ill from 

dizziness and unsteadiness that he was unable to safely walk, and his speech was impaired. 

See Plaintiff’s Exhibit O, pp. 42. 

35. Mr. Tiede’s symptoms resolved but returned on June 22, 2023, becoming 

severe enough that TDCJ sent Mr. Tiede to the emergency room at the local hospital. 

36. At this time of this health crisis, Mr. Tiede had already been diagnosed with 

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, COPD, Emphysema, Diabetes, hyperlipidemia, 

hypertension, and dental disease.  See Plaintiff’s Exhibit O, p 44. 

37. Mr. Tiede was tested medically and was apparently discharged without being 

diagnosed with a stroke, although a stroke was initially suspected. 

38. Mr. Tiede returned to his unairconditioned cell, and his health did not greatly 

improve, and in fact the paralysis remained. Mr. Tiede was required to use a walker to walk 

and was additionally suffering from a sever ear infection. 

39. Mr. Tiede was alerted to having a telemedicine doctor’s appointment by a 

guard slipping a sheet of paper under his pillow while he was sleeping, alerting him to a 7:45 

am doctor appointment, but Mr. Tiede did not find the paper until after he woke up. He was 

told he missed a doctor appointment that morning. 
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40. Undersigned realized that Mr. Tiede needed to receive credit for the time he 

was out on bond in 2014, so a Motion for Nunc Pro Tunc was filed on July 19, 2023 in the 

state district court retaining plenary power to correct his sentence, requesting a hearing for no 

later than July 23, 2023. 

41. There was no action on the motion, no hearing set, and while the motion was 

served on the Panola County District Attorney’s office and the OAG, no response was made 

to undersigned’s office. 

42. Mr. Tiede was in such bad health, that Richard Linklater, who had joined Mr. 

Tiede’s legal team as a legal case narrative strategist, made a legal visit to him on Friday, 

August 4, 2023, in order to document Mr. Tiede’s acute health issues and the chronic, deadly 

heat in Mr. Tiede’s cell for the state district court, along with some equitable information to 

support granting the requested back time. 

43. Mr. Tiede’s legal team hoped that by securing additional time, it would be 

easier to obtain some kind of compassionate release for Mr. Tiede, because his parole 

eligibility and release date would be moved up by almost two years. 

44. Mr. Linklater was extremely disturbed after meeting with Mr. Tiede, and 

expressed concern that Mr. Tiede may die soon, and Mr. Linklater shared a photo 

documenting Mr. Tiede’s health state.  See Photo of Mr. Tiede from August 4, 2023, Attached as 

“Plaintiff’s Exhibit P.” 

45. Mr. Tiede’s photo shows ongoing facial paralysis and a marked decline in 

health when compared to Plaintiff’s Exhibit N.  See Plaintiff’s Exhibits “N” and “P.” 

46. Mr. Linklater made a three-page signed statement which included video 

footage of Mr. Tiede and an explanation to the district court about the poor conditions he 
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observed and heard about from Mr. Tiede directly.  See Mr. Linklater’s Statement with Video 

Footage, Attached as “Plaintiff’s Exhibit Q.” 

47. Mr. Linklater’s evidence was added to an Amended Nunc Pro Tunc motion 

which was filed in Panola County on August 10, 2023, requesting a hearing by August 21, 

2023.  See File Marked Motion for Judgment for Nunc Pro Tunc, Amended, Attached as “Plaintiff’s 

Exhibit R.” 

48.   Emergency Relief Demanded: 

49. The public arena nationwide is focusing on the ongoing horrendous conditions 

of aging prisons, especially in hot Texas, where individuals under state custody are being kept 

in horrendous horrible conditions with inside temperatures reaching triple digits.  See Current 

Articles by Brant Bingham, in the Austin Chronicle, “Texas Prisons are Cooking People Alive. Are We 

Ok with That?” Part 1 of a 3-part series about heat in prison and “The State Claims No One is Dying 

from 120 plus F. Heat in Prisons, part 2”, dated August 11, 2023, an August 18, 2023, Both Articles 

Attached as “Plaintiff’s Exhibits “T” and “S”. 

50. The terrible health conditions are explicitly reported by Mr. Bingham, 

including prisoner’s seeing spots, dizziness from severe heat exhaustion, and deaths from 

cardiac arrest. 

51. Worse, Mr. Bingham honestly reports on evidence suggesting that the TDCJ’s 

culpability exceeds that for maintain these horrible cell conditions, but also that the TDCJ is 

engaging in active efforts to conceal the deaths and harm to inmates housed in sadistic, 

inhumane conditions. 

52. Desperate activists and family members of the tortured prisoners are holding 

press conferences in a desperate attempt to gain attention and secure relief for their loved 
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ones.  See AP Article entitled “Texas Heat Waive has Inmate’s families worried about Lack of Air 

Conditioning in State’s Prisons” by Juan A. Lozano, Published July 18, 2023, Attached as Plaintiff’s 

Exhibit U.” 

53. This article discusses numerous deaths occurring from heat-related illnesses, 

and the desperation inmates endure living in these deadly conditions, surviving on toilet water 

for hydration. Id. 

54. Earlier in the Summer, death from heat in Texas prisons was reported 

nationally in a New York Times Article entitled “Man down! Surviving the Texas Heat in Prisons 

Without Air-Conditioning, by J. David Goodman, Published June 29, 2023.  See Article Attached 

as “Plaintiff’s Exhibit U2”. 

55. This article was written before temperatures were known to top 120 degrees 

Fahrenheit.   

56. The OAG not only perpetuates these conditions with TDCJ, but also fights any 

attempt to address them, appealing Court ordered relief for prisoners.  See Attorney General of 

Texas Statement “AG Paxton: Texas will Appeal Prison Heat Ruling, Attached as “Plaintiff’s Exhibit 

V”. 

57. The currently suspended attorney general is quoted as saying “Texas taxpayers 

shouldn’t be on the hook for tens of millions of dollars to pay for expensive prison air 

conditioning systems which are unnecessary and not constitutionally mandated…” 

belligerently ignoring constitutional mandates that actually do mandate healthy 

imprisonment conditions, not to mention common human decency. 

58. Furthermore, the current heat wave is bringing much higher, unprecedented 

temperatures than there were in 2017, when the OAG’s office made their inexplicable 
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statement regarding heath conditions in Texas prisons.  See Sweltering Temperatures Bring 

Misery to Large Portion of Central US, Setting Heat Records” by Juan A. Lozano, published by 

Associated Press on August 21, 2023, Attached as “Plaintiff’s Exhibit W.” 

59. Horrible record temperature highs are being reached, and prisoners are 

receiving the worst of the rising weather temperatures in Texas. 

60. Locally, the weather forecast for Mr. Tiede’s current housing is set to be in the 

triple digits for 9 out of the next 12 days, any consecutive days of this sweltering, unusual 

heat.  See the Weather Channels ten day forecast for Huntsville Texas for Tuesday august 22 through 

Monday, September 4, 2023, Attached as “Plaintiff’s Exhibit X.” 

61. This Court is required to intervene as Texas legislatures refuse to take action, 

even when funding is available.  See Jolie McCullough’s “As Death Toll in Stifling Texas Prisons 

Climbs, Congressional Democrats ask for Investigations”, The Texas Tribune, August 21, 2023, 

Attached as “Plaintiff’s Exhibit Y.” 

62. This article reports that “State legislators prevail with the mindset that allowing 

inmates to suffer form excessive heat is appropriately “tough on crime” according to some 

representatives.  See Plaintiff’s Exhibit Y. 

63. There is no natural relief expected, as a current heat wave has brought 

unusually high number of consecutive 100-degree days.  See “This Summer is on Track to be 

Among Texas’ Most Extreme” by Erin Douglas, published in the Texas Tribune, July 18, 2023, 

Attached as “Plaintiff’s Exhibit Z.” 

64. Mr. Tiede is an elderly man with conditions that make him especially 

vulnerable to heat related illness (diabetes, hypertension, and chronic obstructive pulmonary 

Disease (COPD). 
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65. If Mr. Tiede’s current deadly incarceration conditions continue unabated, Mr. 

Tiede is likely to die this summer, in 2023. 

66. Mr. Tiede’s continued incarceration in the fatal conditions is especially 

obscene, because Mr. Tiede’s unnecessary and illegal continued re-incarceration is a result of 

the nauseating violations of Mr. Tiede’s constitutional rights by the OAG, currently ongoing, 

along with the ongoing atrocious TDCJ’s violations of Mr. Tiede’s constitutional rights.  See 

infra. 

 

67. Original Conviction - 1999: 

68. Mr. Tiede sustained a first-degree felony murder conviction in 1999 in the 123rd 

District Court, Panola County, for an offense committed in 1996, in Cause No. 1997-c-103. 

See Judgment, Attached as “Plaintiff’s Exhibit A.” 

69. Mr. Tiede received a life sentence in TDCJ.  See Plaintiff’s Exhibit A. 

70.  In 2012, after seeing a movie entitled “Bernie” and receiving trial transcripts 

from the director Richard Linklater, undersigned undertook a post-conviction investigation 

of Mr. Tiede’s case, finding serious constitutional error in Mr. Tiede’s original conviction. 

71. Post-Conviction Relief Investigation – 2012-2014: 

72. Part of the constitutional error involved the discovery that Mr. Tiede, after 

being blackmailed by law enforcement with the release of secretly filmed sex videotapes, 

signed a statement which included false premeditation language. The tapes showed Mr. Tiede 

giving oral sex to married men, one of whom was a deputy reservist with the local law 

enforcement agency, and the use of the video tapes to secure confession is referenced on the 
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original pretrial record. The statement was used in Mr. Tiede’s original conviction and 

sentence.  

73. More importantly, Mr. Davidson and undersigned jointly discovered and 

objectively developed previously unknown mitigating evidence indicating that Mr. Tiede was 

sexually abused as a child by his uncle, a serial pedophile, and new evidence regarding a 

higher level of abuse that Mr. Tiede experienced from Decedent Marjorie Nugent, 

(“Decedent”) during their long term, close relationship. 

74. Much of the new evidence regarding the level of abuse and dysfunction 

exhibited by the Decedent to Mr. Tiede and other members of the community was discovered 

after further investigation which started from a New York Times Article written by 

Decedent’s nephew, Joe Rhodes, and entitled “How my Aunt Marge Ended Up in the Deep 

Freeze”,  the abusive treatment was further corroborated by Mr. Rhode’s mother (Decedent’s 

sister), Merrell Rhodes. 

75. The Panola County District Attorney Danny Buck Davidson (“Mr. Tiede”) 

independently verified much of the evidence presented by undersigned. 

76. This verification included a very new psychiatric report from Mr. Davidson’s 

original expert witness, Dr. Edward Gripon, which indicated that Dr. Gripon corroborated 

the new evidence and dramatically changed his own psychiatric assessment of the 

circumstances around Decedent’s death, assessing that Mr. Tiede committed Decedent’s 

homicide in a dissociative state.  

77. The dissociative episode, involuntary mens rea, was dramatically different from 

a premeditative, intentional mens rea. Therefore, Mr. Davidson agreed to recommend a new 

sentence of no more than twenty years for Mr. Tiede if undersigned would agree not to file a 
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habeas based on the constitutionally infirm original conviction and sentence, and instead file 

a habeas for a new sentencing based on the newly discovered equitable and mitigating 

sentencing evidence, where Mr. Davidson agreed to sentence Mr. Tiede to “time served”. 

78. Undesigned agreed to Mr. Davidson’s terms only if Mr. Davidson committed 

his intention to recommend a sentence of time served on the record, and if Mr. Davidson 

agreed to allow Mr. Tiede to be released on bond while the habeas procedural passed through 

the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals. 

79. Mr. Davidson agreed to these terms, contingent on Mr. Tiede living with Mr. 

Linklater and working for undersigned while on a Texas Code of Criminal Procedure 11.65 

bond, being closely supervised by Travis County Probation, with regular personal updates 

from Mr. Tiede’s probation officer and undersigned specifically sent to Mr. Davidson and the 

district court. 

80. The district Court judge multiple times explicitly told both Mr. Davidson and 

undersigned that she would agree to accept Mr. Davidson’s recommendation of a sentence of 

time served after she carefully reviewed the record and proposed submissions. 

81. On May 6th, 2014, undersigned filed a motion for a Texas Code of Criminal 

Procedure Art. 11.65 bond, which included affidavits from undersigned and Richard 

Linklater memorializing the required agreement that Mr. Tiede lives at Mr. Linklater’s and 

works at undersigned’s office, per undersigned’s agreement with Mr. Davidson.   See Motion 

for Bond, Attached as “Plaintiff’s Exhibit B.” 

82. The Court, privy and agreeable to the agreement between undersigned and Mr. 

Davidson, released Mr. Tiede on bond.  See Order on Motion for Bond, Attached as “Plaintiff’s 

Exhibit C.” 
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83. During the Habeas hearing on May 6th, Mr. Davidson committed to his 

recommended sentence by both admitting and reading his own affidavit on the record.  See 

Affidavit and Transcript Portion, Attached Plaintiff’s Exhibits “D” and “E”  

84. Mr. Davidson memorialized his agreement and intention to recommend a 

sentence of time served when he clearly stated, “Had Mr. Tiede been sentenced in the 2-to-

20-year range, he would have been released outright or be on parole by now…therefore I am 

agreeable to considering his sentence to be time served…” Id. 

85. Mr. Davidson further explained in his affidavit and on the record, that “if the 

appellate court grants [Mr. Tiede’s] Motion for Habeas Corpus Relief and he is resentenced 

released from prison he will be a convicted felon who served almost 17 years behind bars for 

murder…”. Id. 

86. Mr. Davidson explained that “based upon my views as stated above and in light 

of Article 2.01 of the Texas Code of Criminal Procedure that expressly states, ‘it shall be the 

primary duty of all prosecuting attorney not to convict, but to see that justice is done,’ I am 

executing this sworn affidavit” Id.   

87. A “Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law Recommendation, and Order”, 

where the Court attested to the credibility of the new evidence and Mr. Davidson’s 

commitment to sentencing Mr. Tiede to no more than 20 years (explained in paragraphs 66-

68 entitled “General Effect of New Evidence on the Prosecution”) was signed by all parties 

on May 6th, 2014, and entered into the record.  See “Finding of Fact and Conclusions of Law 

Recommendation and Order”, Attached as “Plaintiff’s Exhibit F.” 

88. The Court specifically recommended to the Court of Criminal Appeals that “in 

accordance with the above and foregoing findings of fact and conclusions of law, the Court 
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recommends to the Court of Criminal Appeals that Applicant be granted relief in the form of 

a new punishment hearing.”  Id. 

89. Mr. Tiede was released, and the state habeas was submitted to the Court of 

Criminal Appeals.  See Public Record New York Times Article entitled “Bernie Goes Home with 

Director.” Attached as Plaintiff’s Exhibit “G.” 

90. The Court of Criminal Appeals of Texas granted the requested relief on 

November 14, 2014. 

91. During the pendency of Mr. Tiede’s habeas in the appellate court, a portion of 

the Decedent’s family began to aggressively interfere with Mr. Tiede’s case by making their 

own legal filings through a private attorney. 

92. The portion of the Decedent’s family continued to aggressively harass Mr. 

Davidson, purportedly by soliciting an unflattering student film about Mr. Davidson, meeting 

with him and apparently tape recording him, and threatening him unless he recused himself. 

93. At this point Mr. Davidson told undersigned that the family’s behavior had 

become so extreme that he felt that he should recuse himself to act as a witness against them.  

94. Wrongful Re-prosecution by OAG 2014-2016 

95. The OAG entered a notice of appearance with employees Lisa Tanner and Jane 

Starnes acting as new criminal prosecutors. 

96. The OAG attorneys became aware of all of the constitutional violations in the 

original plea negotiations, trial, and sentencing, including but not limited to being 

blackmailed into signing an inaccurate statement with embarrassing sex tapes,  the state and 

government requiring Mr. Tiede to invalidate a will in a private family will contest which 

would result in one side of the Decedent’s family gaining leverage against another in 
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inheriting the Decedent’s multi-million dollar estate, homophobic conduct of most parties of 

the original proceedings that rose to the level of  constitutional violations in many forms, and 

a variety of serious issues. 

97. The OAG was aware of both the compelling newly discovered mitigating 

evidence supporting a dissociative episode, and the agreement of all parties that Mr. Tiede 

would not be returned to prison. They were also well aware of the Court’s findings of fact and 

law. 

98. The OAG affirmative intimated that Mr. Davidson had a criminal record and 

had attempted to bribe a portion of the Decedent’s family. 

99. The OAG promised that they were not the stalking horse of the portion of the 

Decedent’s family who had injected themselves into Mr. Tiede’s criminal case, and that the 

OAG would look at all of the developed evidence with an open mind. 

100. However, the OAG appeared to disregard all of this fully developed evidence, 

which had been strong enough to support the release of a man convicted of murder and had 

been validated by the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals majority;  at the request of one portion 

of the Decedent’s family (who drove the original plea negotiations, as evidence suggests) and 

produced a huge amount of evidence in the form of financial records, which had never been 

shown to undersigned during the original investigation and prior to undersigned’s habeas 

agreement with Mr. Davidson. 

101. The OAG told undersigned that the materials were always in the possession of 

the law enforcement agency (the Panola County Sheriff’s Department) and had never been 

out of the state’s possession or possessed by the family or private attorneys.   
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102. However, the OAG attorneys were vague about where these newly presented 

financial documents originated, or what they were mean to indicate. 

103. The OAG affirmatively told defense counsel that they did not believe that Mr. 

Tiede was attempting to hide financial misdeeds and was motivated to kill the Decedent based 

on that theory. 

104. The OAG proceeded to aggressively re-prosecute Mr. Tiede in an emotionally 

difficult sentencing trial before an East Texas jury, where they attempted to proceed on 

immoral and outrageous theories, including that Mr. Tiede had never been sexually abused 

as a child (disproven when the pedophile and three other victims corroborated the abuse). 

They forced Mr. Tiede to be “assessed” by the OAG’s own second “expert” who presented 

evidence that even if Mr. Tiede was sexually abused, it did not matter or harm Mr. Tiede or 

victims in general. Further, they had all of the “new financial evidence,” never submitted to 

habeas counsel during habeas investigations, that the OAG, without showing a clear chain of 

custody, affirmatively represented to defense as originating from the state’s original 

possession, and not being relevant to the homicide,  inexplicitly admitted into the record. 

105. During the OAG’s strangely biased reprosecution of Mr. Tiede, Mr. Tiede had 

done so well on his community release that he was granted the ability to stay out of prison on 

a modified bond.  See Attached Joint Motion and Order for Mr. Tiede’s Release on Bond, Attached as 

“Plaintiff’s Exhibits “I” and “J.” 

106. While released on bond, Mr. Tiede enjoyed excellent reports from senior 

probation officer Leo Cruz.  See Letter to the Judge, Dated October 22, 2015, Attached as “Plaintiff’s 

Exhibit “K.” 
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107. Against the great weight of the evidence, the OAG ultimately argued to the jury 

exactly what they had affirmatively stated to defense counsel that they did not believe, that 

Mr. Tiede had murdered Decedent to conceal financial wrongdoing. 

108. Mr. Tiede was sentenced to “Ninety-Nine (99) years to Life” by the East Texas 

Jury, which was altered in a nunc pro tunc order to “Ninety-Nine Years Institutional Division 

of TDCJ”.  See Original and Amended Judgments, Attached as Plaintiff’s Exhibits “L” and “M”. 

 

1. If Mr. Tiede’s federal and state constitutional rights were legally protected, Mr. 

Tiede would still be on community supervision. 

2. Mr. Tiede was released with the state prosecutor Danny Buck Davidson’s 

agreement in 2014, while a habeas filed on his behalf successfully cleared by the Texas Court 

of Criminal Appeal.   

3. The state prosecutor negotiated an agreement with Mr. Tiede’s counsel, where 

Mr. Davidson would recommend a sentence of time served, once the habeas cleared the Texas 

Court of Criminal Appeal and was remanded to the district court level for resentencing. 

4. The Court knew of this agreement prior to the filing of the habeas, agreed that 

the negotiated agreement and the basis on which the it rested was reasonable and fair, and 

indicated that she would accept the state’s recommendation for time served.  

5. Instead of recommending a sentence of time served for Mr. Tiede, as was 

intended and memorialized on the record and in his own affidavit, Mr. Davidson recused 

himself from the case after receiving extremely unusual and aggressive pressure from some, 

not all, of the Decedent’s family.  
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6. Mr. Davidson recused himself because he has become a witness to 

impermissible events and  conduct that were reported to the OAG. 

7. The OAG agreed to step in for Mr. Davidson. 

8. Instead of honoring Mr. Davidson’s previous agreement with Mr. Tiede’s 

counsel,  without any reasonable, sufficient explanation, the OAG improperly re-prosecuted 

Mr. Tiede’s in a sentencing trial.  In order to wrongly re-prosecute Mr. Tiede, the OAG 

ignored evidence of very serious, fundamental constitutional infirmities and official conduct 

that occurred during Mr. Tiede’s original plea negotiations, trial, and conviction.  The OAG 

also appeared to ignore Mr. Davidson’s very serious grounds for recusal.   

9. In doing actions that included but were not limited to investigation and 

prosecution, the OAG violated Mr. Tiede’s Eight Amendment constitutional protection 

against Cruel and Unusual Punishment, Sixth Amendment Rights to Confrontation, Fifth 

Amendment Rights to Due Process, all as applied to Texas through the Fourteenth 

Amendment, along with violating Mr. Tiede’s Fourteenth Amendment Right to Equal 

Protection.   

10. Mr. Tiede was correctly released from prison in 2014, with the agreement of 

the state prosecutor. All appropriate parties to Mr. Tiede’s criminal case (the Court, the 

Prosecutor, and the Defendant) intended and committed to one another that Mr. Tiede was 

to never return to prison.  If the law were followed and Mr. Tiede’s constitutional rights were 

duly protected, Mr. Tiede would have been released on community supervision in 2016.  

11. Instead, Mr. Tiede was inappropriately and illegally returned to prison based 

on the conduct of the OAG, where he has been, and continues to be, housed by TDCJ under 

inhumane, sadistic, and dangerous heat conditions, while being denied adequate and 
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appropriate health care, causing continued violations of his Eight Amendment protections 

against cruel and unusual punishment, Fifth Amendment Rights to Due Process, as applied 

to Texas through the Fourteenth Amendment, and Equal Protections as guaranteed by the 

Fourteenth Amendment.  

 

V. CAUSES OF ACTION  

 

Count I 
§ 1983 Action Against All Defendants Based on 8th and 14th U.S. Constitutional 

Amendments: Unlawful Conditions of Confinement 
 

12. Plaintiff incorporates the previous paragraphs as alleged herein. 

13. The U.S. Constitution’s Eight Amendment, as incorporated against the states 

through the Fourteenth Amendment, protects prison inmates form cruel and unusual 

punishment by State actors and requires State actors to provide adequate healthcare to prison 

inmates. 

14. The State actors violate this right when they subject prison inmates to cruel 

treatment and conditions of confinement amounting to additional punishment than the 

inmate received at sentencing, or that do not ensure those inmates’ safety and health. 

15. Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983, Defendant Mr. Collier, in his official capacity as 

executive director of TDCJ, and Defendant TDCJ act with deliberate indifference to the 

deadly heat conditions of Mr. Tiede’s imprisonment environment, and act with deliberate 

indifference to the serious risk the dangerous heat conditions cause Mr. Tiede, a medically 

vulnerable inmate. 
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16. The Defendants Mr. Paxton on Ms. Colmenero, as suspended and acting 

interim attorney generals, heading the OAG, and Defendant OAG perpetuate the 

constitutional violations of Mr. Tiede by not only knowingly maintaining the archaic and 

backwards prison heat conditions with TDCJ, but also by actively colluding with TDCJ in an 

effort to prevent legislation from passing that is intended to correct this deadly, inhumane  

issue; the OAG practices legal maneuvers that actively  allow and assist TDCJ in escaping 

responsibility (liability) for violating Texas prisoners’ constitutional rights against cruel and 

unusual punishment, including medically vulnerable Plaintiff Mr. Tiede’s constitutional 

rights. 

17. Not only do all Defendants knowingly and actively perpetuate the inhumane 

prison conditions related to heat, but they also failed and continue to fail to provide adequate 

medical care to Plaintiff by housing him in suitable airconditioned conditions while he 

recovers from what appears to be a stroke. 

Count II 
The Americans with Disability Act and Rehabilitation Act (against all 

Defendants) 

 

18. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all previous paragraphs. 

19. TDCJ and the AOG, along with their Defendant executive directors and 

attorney generals, receive federal funding, invoking the mandates of the Rehabilitation Act. 

20. The Rehabilitation Act requires recipients of federal monies to reasonably 

accommodate persons with disabilities in their facilities, provide program activities and 
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services, and reasonably modify such facilities, services and programs to accomplish these 

purposes. 

21. Mr. Tiede is a medically vulnerable prisoner, to such a degree as to invoke these 

protections. 

22. Further, Title II of the ADA and the ADA Amendments apply to all 

Defendants, with the above stated mandates. See 42 U.S.C.§1213 et seq. 

23. Title II of the ADA and the ADA Amendments act protects prisoners with 

disabilities because exposure to extreme temperatures also actually violates the Eight and 

Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution. 

24. Mr. Tiede is a prisoner with disabilities to such a degree as to invoke the ADA 

and ADA mandates, as his constitutional rights against cruel and unusual punishment in the 

Eight and Fourteenth Amendment are violated by his ongoing exposure to extreme heat, even 

after having an acute medical issue with chronic lingering effects related to exposure to 

extreme heat, and being held int the same heat-exposed conditions while now trying to 

recover from his heat related illnesses. 

25. All Defendants know that Mr. Tiede suffers from heat-sensitive disabilities, is 

prescribed medications to treat his disabilities; yet, despite their knowledge, all defendants 

intentionally discriminate against Mr. Tiede, in violation of the ADA, ADAAA and 

Rehabilitation Act. 

 

Count III 
§ 1983 Action Against All Defendants Based on 5thth, 6th, and 14th U.S. Constitutional 

Amendments: Violation of U.S. Constitutionally Guaranteed Due Process and 
Confrontation Rights by Enhancing Sentence without a Hearing 
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26. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference all facts and allegations stated 

in previous paragraphs. 

27. Defendants Collier and TDCJ are punishing Mr. Tiede by housing him in 

dangerous extreme heat conditions, instead of safe climate control conditions, by moving him 

from airconditioned units to the unit with deadly extreme heat without giving Mr. Tiede a 

reason for enhancing his punishment, affording him a hearing in compliance with Due 

Process, or allowing him to confront witnesses against him.  These actions are illegally 

enhancing Mr. Tiede’s sentence in violation of his constitutional rights, as guaranteed to Mr. 

Tiede through the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States 

Constitution. 

28. Defendant attorney generals Paxton and Colmenero, in their official capacities, 

and the OAG violated the same constitutional rights by wrongfully re-prosecuting Mr. Tiede, 

wrongfully enhancing his sentence,  exceeding the scopes of protected action by immunity 

and/or qualified immunity afforded to them normally, and may have been actively involved 

in moving and maintaining Mr. Tiede in extreme heat conditions. 

Count IV 
§ 1983 Action Against All Defendants based on the Equal Protection Clause of the 

Fourteenth Amendment 

 

29. Plaintiff realleges and incorporates by reference the allegations in all previous 

paragraphs. 

30. The Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S Constitution provides that  “…no State 

shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of 
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the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without 

due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the 

laws.”  See USCS Const. Amend. 14. 

31. The Equal Protection Clause of the U.S. Constitution, as applied to states 

through the Fourteenth Constitution requires the State to treat all similarly situated people 

equally. See City of Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Center, 473 U.S. 432, 439, 105 S. Ct. 3249, 87 L. 

Ed. 2d 313 (1985)(cited by Soria v. Nev. Dep't of Corr., No. 3:09-cv-00762-RCJ-VPC, 2012 U.S. 

Dist. LEXIS 33953, at *23 (D. Nev. Feb. 7, 2012). 

32.  In the prison context, however, even fundamental rights, such as the right to 

equal protection, are judged by a standard of reasonableness — specifically, whether the 

actions of prison officials are "reasonably related to legitimate penological interests." Soria 

(citing Walker v. Gomez, 370 F.3d 969, 974 (9th Cir. 2004) (quoting Turner, 482 U.S. at 89).  

33. To establish a violation of the Equal Protection Clause, the prisoner must 

present evidence of discriminatory intent. See Washington v. Davis, 426 U.S. 229, 239-40, 96 S. 

Ct. 2040, 48 L. Ed. 2d 597 (1976). 

34. Mr. Tiede has a constitutional right to equal protection of the laws. 

35. Similarly situated United States citizens who are incarcerated in federal and 

state prisons are provided protection from extreme heat by the use of air conditioners. 

36. A minority of the states, 13, including Texas, fail to provide safe, climate-

controlled environments for human beings in their custodies. 

37. By failing to provide Mr. Tiede with a safe, temperature-controlled 

environment protecting him from extreme heat conditions all Defendants fail to provide Mr. 
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Tiede with the equal protection afforded to other similarly situated individuals in the United 

States. 

38. As to the Defendants who act as prison officials, Collier and the TDCJ, there 

is not reasonably related, legitimate penological interests involved in exposing Mr. Tiede to 

extreme heat conditions, allowing him to become ill because of the heat exposure, allowing 

him to die by continuing to expose Mr. Tiede to extreme heat conditions, and  failing to 

provide protection to medically vulnerable Mr. Tiede, and then publicly concealing the 

number of deaths and illnesses related to extreme heat exposure. 

39. The Defendants who are attorney generals (Paxton and Colmenero) and the 

OAG itself are failing to protect Mr. Tiede, a Texas prisoner, from extreme heat conditions, 

denying him the protections afforded to other similarly situated prisoners in other states. 

40. By violating Mr. Tiede’s rights to equal protection, Defendants are abusing 

Mr. Tiede, acting sadistically, and callously disregarding strongly held United States values 

rooted in common human decency. 

 

VI. INJUNCTIVE AND DECLARATORY RELIEF 
 

41. Plaintiff Bernhardt Tiede, II, seeks injunctive and declaratory relief pursuant to 

42 U.S.C. § 1983, the ADA, ADAAA, and the Rehabilitation Act against Defendants to 

immediate require that TDCJ provide Mr. Tiede with safe housing conditions. 

42. Without injunctive relief, Defendants will continue to endanger Mr. Tiede’s life 

by failing to provide him with safe housing which includes temperature controls protecting 

him from extreme heat and/or cold. 
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43. Plaintiff has no plain, adequate, or complete remedy at law to address the 

Defendants’ wrongful conduct. 

44. Plaintiff requests that Defendants maintain a heat index of 85 degrees or lower, 

but not to dangerously cold temperatures, for any housing or prison environment for Mr. 

Tiede.  

45. In the alternative, Mr. Tiede requests that this Court grants a preliminary 

injunction requesting Mr. Tiede’s immediate release to his sister’s home, on leg monitor, until 

the pendency of this case is complete. 

46. It is imperative that this situation is not normal, so realistic words are not used 

for the dramatic affect for the Court but rather to state the truth about these inhumanities and 

in an earnest effort to save Mr. Tiede’s life. 

47. Mr. Tiede does not seek damages at this time. 

VII. JURY DEMAND  

48.       Plaintiff demands a jury trial. 

VIII. ATTORNEY’S FEES 
 

49. Plaintiff is entitled to and does wish to recover attorney’s fees, litigation 

expenses, and court costs, including expert costs, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §1988 and 42 U.S.C. 

§ 12205. 

IX. PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
 

50. Plaintiff Bernhardt Tiede, II, respectfully requests that the Court award the 

following relief: 
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a. Remedy ongoing violations of law and the Constitution by granting 

declaratory and injunctive relief, as set out in this Complaint, on behalf of 

Mr. Tiede; 

b. Permanently enjoin Defendants to abate the situation where Mr. Tiede is 

exposed to extreme heat, by moving Mr. Tiede immediately, and 

maintaining Mr. Tiede only in incarceration environments where he is 

exposed to no higher than 85 degrees (preferably lower) and temperatures 

that are not dangerously cold, at the Estelle Unit or any other Unit housing 

Mr. Tiede. 

c. In the alternative, Mr. Tiede requests that this Court orders that Mr. Tiede 

is allowed to substitute home confinement with an electronic monitor for 

his punishment, during the pendency of present case before this Court. 

d. Find that Mr. Tiede, Plaintiff, is the prevailing party in this case, and award 

him attorney’s fees, court costs, expert costs, and litigation expenses; 

e. Grant such other and further relief as appears reasonable and just, to which 

Plaintiff may be entitled.   

 

Dated: August 24th, 2023, 
    

                                                                    
LAW OFFICE OF JODI COLE, PLLC 
Counsel for Bernhardt Tiede, II 
203 East Murphy Street 
Alpine, Texas 79830 
Telephone:  (432) 837-4266 
Facsimile: (512) 692-2575 
 
By: /s/ Jodi Cole  
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Jodi Cole, Esq. 
Texas Bar No. 24045602 
jcole@jodicole.com 

















































































































































































Sometimes all you can do in this world is bear witness. 

On Friday, August 4th I visited Bernie Tiede, who’s currently incarcerated at the 
Estelle Unit just outside of Huntsville, Texas.  

I was stunned at how much his health had deteriorated since the last time I saw 
him.   Half of his face is paralyzed and he seemed to be truly struggling – I left 
worrying not only about his physical health but his mental health as well.  The 
Bernie I’ve visited before in prison has always been very upbeat, positive, smiling 
and fundamentally joyful and appreciative, despite his situation.  That’s the 
Bernie everyone knows – the positive guy who’s helping others and making the 
best of his situation.  Sadly, that’s only a small percentage of the Bernie I 
encountered on this day.  As we visited for an hour and a half or so, I found 
myself starting to film him with my phone, to maybe share some of what I was 
hearing. 

I think the clips below represent not only his personal situation but serves as a 
firsthand account of the conditions everyone there is living under.   I’ve cut out 
almost all of the personal banter and distilled it down to bits that I think others 
considering his case might want to hear.  

This first one is about his recent medical emergency: 

Bernie : Clip One 

These next four concern the extreme heat conditions at Estelle Unit and how the 
lack of air conditioning affects everyone there.  It’s perhaps a little redundant, 
but it’s telling that the conversation kept floating back to this one subject.  Why 
wouldn’t it?  It’s the problem in the room, that no one can escape for long and is 
ruining the health, atmosphere and relations of everyone there. 

Bernie : Clip Two 

Bernie : Clip Three 

Bernie : Clip Four 

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1D30t13Y_ftpziHESloO_UFWzJf_owJpP/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1iANWD8X-TU1ptxeKzlwqRGHgyQswH1Cu/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1KktOqM9LnMJMQ3guRJjpOnWObmN9KW4S/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1ETJeSjyk8LH67IOsHh2ORmWZO-8RW9Nz/view?usp=sharing


  
Bernie : Clip Five 
  
Another thing he talked about that I thought was odd is the crazy schedule 
they’ve been imposing on the inmates.  After a few hours of sleep they have to get 
up and take showers, have meals at very strange hours, etc.  There’s something 
about not being allowed to sleep continuously that seems cruel and unhealthy – 
maybe something you’d find more in a P.O.W. camp than a government facility. 
  
Bernie : Clip Six 
  
These last three clips are more personal to Bernie, about his past and possible 
future.  The first is Bernie reflecting on his two years in Austin when he was out, 
and the last two are about how he has a nice situation awaiting him in the Dallas 
area at his sister’s house should he be released. 
  
Bernie : Clip Seven 
  
Bernie : Clip Eight  
  
Bernie : Clip Nine 
  
  
I think it’s very telling that the whole time I was there Bernie had not one bad 
thing to say about any person, a fellow inmate or corrections officer – he had no 
personal problems with anyone.  It was all about these miserable and 
unnecessary conditions he and everyone there are having to live under.  You 
could sense it in the atmosphere everywhere, no smiles or light-heartedness, just 
people suffering and trying to make it through the next hour of their lives.  Even 
sweet and kind Bernie was sad and edgy – the opposite of his true nature.  
  
As I said earlier, I left very depressed at his (and everyone else’s) situation.  
Bernie just turned 65 years old, is in poor health, and is physically being pushed 
to the brink.  I wondered if this was maybe the last time I would ever see him – 
that the heat could very well finish him off before this excruciating summer is 
finally over.  That I might be witnessing a kind of slow manslaughter-in-

https://drive.google.com/file/d/1APZd0HuS4FeR4u7oteKlh-6WQSa4nyVh/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1BbFMiFikAw_q9UUIexT1IqoaklxD6AoJ/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1Fe-9SvhlTnbV1kSFWoC1GhP_Qtt7hxtw/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1wvVuMLvLWXDTBe53XXHFmnhsoOUUfrE9/view?usp=sharing
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1bsSpQvDEx3fbBt2gfWbqMftr5q9inRzz/view?usp=sharing


progress.  Dark thoughts for sure, but all these things have been swirling through 
my mind.  I share all this in hopes it could possibly make a difference with 
someone who has some authority.  
  
Bernie used to sit outside his garage apartment in our back yard and read the 
newspaper to “Dude,” our pet pig (born Yankee Doodle on the 4th of July 12 
years ago).  He loved all the animals that swirled around our family, but had a 
special bond with the Dude.  When Bernie asked me the other day how the little 
guy was doing, I talked about a small shady room we have for him out on our 
farm, where he lives with 3 younger rescue pigs.  It’s been so hot and Dude’s had 
some health problems recently, so we splurged and put in a small $129 air 
conditioner so they can at least get out of the heat if they want to.  I had to say, 
“but to answer your question as to how Dude the pig is doing, all I can say is he’s 
living better than you are.”  
  
Richard Linklater 
August 8, 2023 
  
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 










































































































